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REVI EW of a decision of the Court of Appeals. Reversed and

cause renmanded.

11 DAVID T. PRGCSSER, J. This is a review of a published

decision of the court of appeals, Bubb v. Brusky, 2008 W App

104, 313 Ws. 2d 187, 756 N W 2d 584, which affirmed the

decision of the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, Robert J.
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Wrtz, Judge, to dismss R chard and Marjorie Bubb's infornmed
consent claimunder Ws. Stat. § 448.30 (2007-08).1

12 The respondents state the issue as follows: "Did the
evi dence presented at trial establish an informed consent claim
[under Ws. St at. 8§ 448. 30] agai nst Dr . Br usky?" The
petitioners ask whether "the trial court commt[ted] reversible
error by precluding the jury from considering [their] inforned
consent cl ai n?"

13 W conclude that Ws. Stat. § 448.30 requires any
physician who treats a patient to inform the patient about the
availability of al | al ternate, vi abl e nedi cal nodes  of
treatnment, including diagnosis, as well as the benefits and
risks of such treatnents. The statute contains severa
reasonable exceptions to this requirenent that I|imt the
treating physician's duty to inform under the statute. In this
medi cal mal practice action, the plaintiffs filed a separate and
distinct claim grounded in the requirenents of § 448. 30. They
presented sufficient evidence at trial to support such a claim
None of the statutory exceptions apply. Hence, the circuit
court's dismssal of the claim at the conclusion of trial
evi dence was error

14 W reverse the decision of the court of appeals and
remand the case to the circuit court for further proceedings

consistent wth this opinion.

L All subsequent references to the Wsconsin Statutes are to
t he 2007-08 version unless ot herw se indicat ed.
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| . FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

15 On Cctober 24, 2001, Mrjorie and Richard Bubb were
eating dinner together when Mirjorie noticed that R chard was
having difficulty ingesting his food. "I asked him what was
wong, if he was okay," Marjorie said, "and he said he was."
But he wasn't. Wien Richard fell out of his chair, Marjorie
suspected that Richard was having a stroke. She imredi ately
called for help from a neighbor and then called an anbul ance,
which transported Richard to the energency departnment of St.
Agnes Hospital in Fond du Lac.

16 After arriving at St. Agnes, Richard was exam ned by
Dr. WIIliam Brusky, an emergency nedicine physician.? Dr. Brusky
ordered several tests for Richard, including a CT (conputerized
t onogr aphy) scan, an EKG (el ectrocardi ogran), and various bl ood
tests, to evaluate Richard's condition. Wiile Richard was at
St. Agnes, his synptons began to dimnish, and he told both his
wife and Dr. Brusky that he was feeling better and wanted to go
hone.

17 Based on R chard's test results and his inproving
condition, Dr. Brusky concluded that Richard had suffered a
transient ischemc attack, otherwise known as a TIA A TIA
occurs when a portion of the brain fails to receive enough

oxygen, resulting in stroke-like synptons. According to one of

2 As an enmergency nedicine physician, Dr. Brusky did not

have admtting privileges at St. Agnes Hospital. To admit a
patient to the hospital, Dr. Brusky would need to contact a
consultant with admtting ©privileges. According to his

testinmony, "alnost every consultant” has admitting privileges.
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the Bubbs' experts, a TIA is an "atherosclerotic disease,

[caused by] a build-up of cholesterol plaque, often called

"hardening of the arteries,' that can dimnish the heart's
capacity to provide blood to the brain.” Unlike a stroke, where
synptons are pernanent, TIA synptons frequently resolve

t hensel ves within 24 hours.

18 Once Dr. Brusky had diagnosed Richard' s condition, he
tel ephoned Dr. Xian Feng Gu, a neurol ogist. Dr. Gu was in a
position to provide a nore specialized assessnent of Richard's
condition and admt him to the hospital or provide follow up
treatment. Dr. Brusky reviewed Richard's condition with Dr. QCu,
who agreed to see Richard as a patient. Following this
conversation, Dr. Brusky instructed Richard to take some Aspirin
and contact Dr. GQu the next norning for follow up treatnent.

19 Dr. Brusky then discharged Richard from the hospital
with specific "Aftercare Instructions"” for a person who has been
di agnosed with TIA.® Dr. Qu concurred with Dr. Brusky's decision
to discharge Richard, with future treatnent on an outpatient

basi s.

2 The "Aftercare Instructions" advised that a TIA "is a
strong warning sign that a stroke could occur. A stroke occurs
in about 1/3 of those people who have had a TIA The TI A you

had today shows that you are at risk for a stroke." The
instructions also directed Richard to contact Dr. Gu "as soon as
possible to make an appointnent.” Finally, the form instructed

Richard to not snoke, take 325 ngs of Aspirin each norning, and
call the doctor or go to the hospital if synptons of a stroke
shoul d reoccur.
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10 The followi ng norning, October 25, Marjorie called Dr.
Qu's office and scheduled the earliest available appointnment—
Novenber 5, 2001, which was 12 days after the OCctober 24
i nci dent.

11 On Cctober 26, 2001, Marjorie returned honme from work
and found R chard on the bedroom floor pleading for help.
Marjorie called for an anbul ance, and R chard was taken to St.
Joseph's Community Hospital in Wst Bend. At St. Joseph's,
doctors determned that R chard had suffered a |arge-scale
stroke, affecting the right side of his brain. The doctors at
St. Joseph's discovered that Richard's right carotid artery, the
bl ood vessel in his neck leading to the afflicted area of his
brain, showed a 90-percent bl ockage. The stroke debilitated
Richard to an extent that he presently has no use of his left
arm and cannot wal k wi thout using a cane.

112 On Septenber 3, 2003, the Bubbs filed a conplaint
against Drs. Brusky and Gu, alleging negligence in their care of
Ri char d. Specifically, the conplaint alleged that Dr. Brusky
negligently failed to conply wth prevailing standards of
medical care by not appropriately diagnosing and treating
Richard's condition before it escalated into a stroke. The
Bubbs also alleged that Dr. Gu was negligent in failing to
instruct his office staff that R chard's appointnent should be
prioritized, depriving Richard of tinely treatnent. Finally,
the Bubbs alleged that Dr. Brusky was liable for failing to

properly inform Richard of "additional diagnostic tests or
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alternate treatnent plans” in Ilieu of discharge from the
hospi t al

113 At trial, several experts provided testinony regarding
the treatnent Richard received at St. Agnes Hospital, the
alternative courses of action that could be enployed when a
physician is presented wwth a TIA and the role of an energency
room physician. For exanple, the Bubbs presented evidence
indicating that Dr. Brusky should have infornmed R chard that one
alternative to discharge was admssion to the hospital for
further diagnostic testing to determne the cause of the TIA
According to one of the Bubbs' experts, Dr. Burton Bentley Il, a
Doppler wultrasound is a testing protocol that helps determ ne
carotid artery blockage and hel ps doctors determ ne whether a
patient is at inmmnent risk of a stroke. Dr. Bentley testified
that conducting a Doppler ultrasound is part of the standard of
care for TIA patients in order for the treating physician to
know whether the patient requires inmedi ate additional treatnent
to prevent the TIA from becom ng a | arge-scal e stroke.

114 Dr. Brusky agreed during his testinony that admtting
the patient and performng additional diagnostics, |ike the
Doppler ultrasound, was a reasonable alternative course of

treat nent:

Q [Judith E. Tintinalli et al., Enmergency Medicine:
A Conprehensive Study Guide (5th ed. 2000)] says,
"Patients with new onset TIAs should be admtted
for evaluation of possible cardiac sources of
TIAs or high-grade stenosis in the carotid
arteries. The incidence of stroke after" the
"TIA may be as high as 20 to 25 percent in the
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first year, wth the highest incidence in the

first nonth. Because of proven efficacy of
carotid endart er ect ony, patients shoul d be
admtted unless high-grade stenosis of t he
carotid artery can be ruled out." Did | read

that correctly?

A That is correct.

Q [ According to Tintinalli, supra], "Patients wth
new onset TIAs should be evaluated for possible
cardi ac sources of TIAs or high-grade stenosis in
the carotid arteries.” Correct?

Yes.

Q And that the highest incidence of stroke is
within the first nonth, correct?

Yes.

Q Now, you certainly wuld agree that it is
reasonable nedicine to admt a patient and order
Doppl er ultrasound, correct?

A No. It's—+t's reasonable, | agree, but it's not
necessarily what's done.

Q " m not saying that you don't—you testified that
you don't do it, sir. But you woul d agree that
there are many reasonabl e physicians that do?

A There are many ways of treating TIAs and this is
one of the reasonable ways of doing it.

15 1In response to the Bubbs' clains, Dr. Brusky presented
evi dence showing that there is an "ongoing debate in the nedical

comunity about how to address suspected TIA episodes after the

initial evaluation.” For exanple, Dr. Robert Stuart testified
that "sone nedical institutions admt all TIA patients while
others discharge them with a referral to a neurologist." Dr.

Robert Powers testified that there is considerable debate and
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varied practice within the nmedical community over whether to use
carotid Doppler wultrasounds in evaluating TIAs or whether to
di scharge a TIA patient with instructions for subsequent follow
up care with a specialist.

16 Furthernore, Dr. Powers noted that "an energency
departnent physician nust nmake a general assessnment and
stabilize the patient, create a differential diagnosis and nmake
an additional disposition or referral for additional care."” Dr.
Powers opined that Dr. Brusky performed the essential duties of
an energency room physician by diagnhosing and stabilizing
Richard and then referring him to a specialist whose expertise
is better suited for long-term treatnent. Dr. Powers also
testified that, unless they have sone additional specialty,
energency room physicians generally should not admt TIA
patients because they | ack neurol ogi cal experti se.

117 At the close of evidence, the Bubbs submtted their
proposed jury instructions, which included Ws JI—€Civil 1023.2
(2009),* the instruction for informed consent clains under Ws.
Stat. § 448. 30. The Bubbs also submtted the special verdict

5

questions for informed consent,”> which are contained in Ws JI—

Civil 1023.1 (2006).°

4 Al subsequent references to Ws JI—€Civil 1023.2 (2009)
are to the 2009 version unl ess otherw se indicated.

> The record before this court does not include the Bubbs'
proposed special verdict questions. It appears as though those
guestions were attached to sone subm ssion of the Bubbs. W do
not know.
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118 On Decenber 19, 2006, Judge Wrtz conducted off-the-
record discussions with the parties regarding jury instructions
and the special verdict form related to the Bubbs' inforned
consent claim against Dr. Brusky. After those discussions
concl uded, Judge Wrtz stated on the record that he and the
parties "had a rather lengthy discussion in this case about
whet her [Ws JI—Civil] 1023. 2, t he i nf or med consent
instruction, [would] be given" and that he had decided not to
give the instruction to the jury. Followi ng his statenent,
Judge Wrtz gave both parties the opportunity to summarize their

argunents on the record, pursuant to State v. Mnoz, 200

Ws. 2d 391, 403, 546 N.W2d 570 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that
"It 1s essential that the subsequent on-the-record coments

repeat or summarize the argunents and confirm exactly what was

presented to the trial court at the tine of its ruling").

119 The Bubbs' attorney took the opportunity, and he

summari zed his argunents as foll ows:

The legislature passed a statute, 448.30, and
basically created a standard of care for doctors to
inform patients about the availability of al |
alternative viable nedical nodes of treatnent and
about t he benefits and ri sks of t hose
treat ments.

However, the late Paul H Ginstad, attorney for Dr.
Brusky, forthrightly acknowl edged at oral argunent that the
special verdict questions contained in Ws JI—€vil 1023.1
(2006) were submitted by opposing counsel. We appreciate
Attorney Ginstad' s honesty and integrity in this matter.

® All subsequent references to Ws JI—CGivil 1023.1 (2006)
are to the 2006 version unl ess ot herw se indicated.
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Now, | have elicited from every one of the
defense experts that having a Doppler evaluation in a
speedy manner that night or the follow ng norning was
a well-recognized form of treatnent and, furthernore,
the doctors all agree that a patient who is
[ di schar ged from t he hospi t al wi t hout pr oper
evaluation has . . . as nuch as a 5 percent chance of
having a stroke within 48 hours. The infornmed consent
statute clearly talks to this. It says . . . a doctor
has the duty to provide his patient wth the
i nformati on necessary to enable the patient to make an
informed decision about diagnostic treatnent or a
procedure and alternative choices of di agnostic
treatnments and procedures. If the doctor fails to do
that, he's negligent.

There is no question that . . . Dr. Br usky
admtted that the advice given by Tintinalli[, supra,]
and the other people in the textbooks was an
alternative form of treatnent, whether he provided it
or got soneone else to provide it.

There's no question in this case that everybody
agrees that a highly stenosed carotid artery puts
[Richard] at higher risk for having an early stroke
Is that information that can be told to hinf Yes.
[Are] there diagnostic tests that can be done to rule
that out? Yes. . . . And then the [c]lourt in Martin
[v. Richards, 192 Ws. 2d 156, 176, 531 N W2d 70
(1995),] says, "[Tlhere is a duty inposed on the
physician to disclose to the patient the existence of
any methods of diagnosis or treatnent that would serve
as feasible alternatives to the nethod initially
selected by the physician to diagnose or treat the
patient's illness or injur[y]." Well, what was Dr.
Brusky's initial nmethod? Hs initial nethod was to do
the tests that he did in the ER room and send him
horme. VWhat were the alternatives? The alternatives
were to tell him about the other diagnostic tests that
can be done, and how quickly they can be done, and
what the purpose of those things can be. That 1is,
clearly, what the [Martin] case is tal king about.

And when vyou I|ook at the infornmed consent
instruction, it says that you have to tell him about
alternative choices. It says, "The doctor nust inform

10
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the patient whet her a diagnostic procedure is
ordinarily performed in the circunstances confronting
the patient, whether alternative procedures approved
by the nedical profession are available,”™ and "what
the outlook is for success or failure of each
alternative procedure.”

: Every single physician that | questioned
agreed that the alternative reasonable treatnent would
be to hospitalize [Richard] and do a Doppler that
ni ght . They could have done a Doppler, they could
have hospitalized himor, at least, inform him of the
risks of not doing that procedure and the fact that
they could get it done first thing in the norning, if
necessary.

In. . . the Martin case, the [s]uprene [c]ourt
basically says, when it starts out, "This requires us
to determ ne whether there was any credi ble evidence
for the jury to determne whether Dr. Richards was
negligent in failing to inform" Any credible
evidence. There is so much credible evidence in this
record, it's spilling out of the courtroom Every
single person talked about the alternative nethod of
treat ment. Every single person. And every single
person said yes, that would be a fine thing if you
wanted to do that.

You have to tell [the patients] about the test.
You have to tell them about it and—+f you [have it]
avai lable, and you have to tell them about the
significance of it and why it's inportant, and if it's
not available imredi ately tonight, we can do it in the
nmorning. You have to tell them about these things so
that they can nake a decision, so that the man doesn't
| eave the hospital blindly, not know ng anything about
what could happen to him not knowing that this
condition could be ruled out and, boom he has a
st roke. That's the whol e purpose. The duty is to
informthe . . . patient.

120 Dr. Brusky's attorney declined the invitation to

summari ze his off-the-record argunents:

11
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Well, ny understanding is the [c]Jourt's ruled and
read the Martin case. W had a |ong debate about this
earlier this afternoon. | disagree with counsel. I
don't think the Martin case is applicable. | could go

through the whole litany, if you want ne to, of why,
as far as Dr. Brusky is concerned, this is not an
i nformed consent case, but the [c]ourt's heard it and
the [c]ourt's ruled.

THE COURT: You wish to nake a record about what
you said earlier?

[Dr. Brusky's Attorney]: No, | don't think |
have to. You're ruling that you're not going to give
i nformed consent and that's good enough for ne.

21 After allowing the parties the opportunity to make a
record of their argunents, Judge Wrtz summarized his reasoning
for not giving the infornmed consent jury instructions and
speci al verdict questions. Di stinguishing Martin, Judge Wrtz
stated that, in Martin, the doctor "had no diagnosis and had a
test that he <could run in order to specifically rule
out . . . what he was wondering about." According to Judge
Wrtz, Dr. Brusky made a "specific diagnosis" of TIA that every
expert agreed was correct, and "[Richard] was then told this
[ TIA] puts you at risk for stroke[,] [y]ou should have foll ow up
soon[,] and a consultation was nmade to do that followup.”
Therefore, Judge Wrtz concluded, "[T]he facts between this case
and Martin are quite different." Judge Wrtz also found
significant that the carotid Doppler ultrasound would not have
been perforned until the next day, which he said raised "serious
causation questions” for the inforned consent claim Fi nal |y,
Judge Wrtz distinguished the informed consent clains against

Dr. Brusky and Dr. Gu because, as the consulting physician

12
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rather than the treating physician, Dr. Gu had no duty to inform
Ri chard of the diagnostic alternatives.

22 Following Judge Wrtz's decision not to give the
informed consent jury instructions and special verdi ct
questions, the jury returned a verdict of no negligence on the
part of either Drs. Brusky or Gu in the standard of care they
delivered to Richard.

23 The Bubbs brought a notion after the verdict for a new
trial, pursuant to Ws. Stat. § 805.15(1), arguing that the
jury's verdict was contrary to law and there were reversible
errors in the trial. Specifically, the Bubbs clained that Judge
Wrtz inproperly withheld the infornmed consent jury instructions
and special verdict questions from the jury's consideration.
Judge Wrtz dismssed the Bubbs' nmotion for a new trial and
entered judgnent against them and their insurer, The Wst Bend
Conpany, "for their respective statutory costs, disbursenents,
and attorney's fees, according to the law."’ The Bubbs appeal ed.

24 The Bubbs' principal argunent in the court of appeals
was that the jury "should have been properly instructed on an
i nformed consent question and given the opportunity to resolve
it." Bubb, 313 Ws. 2d 187, Y14. The mmjority opinion affirmed
the circuit court's decision that ©D. @G, a consulting
physician, had no duty to provide information to a patient he

was not treating. ld., 921. Accordingly, the court of appeals

" The court's judgnent awarded Dr. Brusky and his insurer,
Medi cal Protective Conpany, $9,689.88; the judgnment awarded Dr.
@ and his insurer, Lakeside Neurocare, LMPC, $7,169.12.

13
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held that Dr. Gu could not be liable for failing to properly
informRi chard. |d.

25 The ~court of appeals also discussed Ws. Stat.
8§ 448.30 in sonme detail. "The informed consent statute requires
that the patient be inforned of alternatives that are avail able

and viable." 1d., Y22. The court continued with the follow ng:

Dr. Brusky did not have admtting privileges at St.
Agnes Hospital and, therefore, hospitalizing Richard

was not a viable option. . . . Dr. Brusky testified
that . . . he did not know  of any ul t rasound
technician on call for the energency departnent that
night. . . . [ T] he Bubbs' evidence did not establish

that a carotid Doppler ultrasound was a viable
alternative treatnent for Richard's properly diagnosed
Tl A

1 d., 1926-27.

26 Additionally, t he court of appeal s dedi cat ed
significant time to addressing the Bubbs' argunments in regards
to Martin. The court noted that the doctor in Martin failed to
inform the patient on two inportant issues: (1) that a CT scan
was available and could detect intracranial bleeding; and (2)
that the hospital was not equipped to treat intracranial
bleeding if it should occur or be found. See id., Y24. Because
Dr. Brusky correctly diagnosed Richard' s condition, and because
there was no apparent consensus in the nedical comunity
mandati ng that physicians perform carotid Doppler ultrasounds to
detect artery blockage in patients suffering a TIA the court of
appeal s affirned the circuit court's decision. See id., 126.

27 Judge Brown wote a dissenting opinion, the thrust of

which is as foll ows:

14
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For me the question in this case is sinply this: Wen
there is wdespread debate in the nedical community
about two distinct protocols for addressing a nedical
condition, nust the ¢treating physician inform the
patient of the alternatives? In ny view, that
guestion is answered "yes" by Wis]. S[tat]. 8§ 448. 30,
which states that "any physician who treats a patient
shall informthe patient about the availability of all
alternate, viable nedical nodes of treatnent and about
the benefits and risks of these treatnents."”

Id., 131. Judge Brown characterized the |anguage in Martin as
properly framng the inquiry: ""[What would a reasonabl e person
in the patient's position want to know in order to make an
intelligent decision with respect to the choices of treatnent or
di agnosi s?' " Id., 132 (quoting Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 176).
Further, Judge Brown reasoned that "the statute is not about
whet her the doctor makes the right nedical decision, but rather
about whether the doctor provides the patient wth the
information that the patient needs to nake a decision of his or
her own." 1d. Because Dr. Brusky proceeded down one course of
action—no admission wth instructions for followup care—
wi thout informng Richard of the alternative course of action—
adm ssion with further diagnostic testing—Jdudge Brown would
have held that Dr. Brusky failed to properly inform Richard of
avai l able and viable alternatives, as required by the statute.
See id., 133.

128 Following the decision of the court of appeals, the
Bubbs petitioned this court for review, arguing for a new trial

agai nst Dr. Brusky on the issue of informed consent. W granted

the petition for review on Septenber 11, 2008.

15
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1. STANDARD OF REVI EW

29 In this case, the Bubbs' inforned consent claim
against Dr. Brusky was pleaded in the conplaint, argued at
trial, and dismssed at the close of evidence before going to
the jury. The procedural nechanismused by the circuit court to
dismss the claimis not clear because Dr. Brusky did not file a
nmotion to dismss, and the record does not reveal the authority
the circuit court used in making its decision. However, we note
that a party may nove to dismss a claim at the close of
evidence under Ws. Stat. 8§ 805.14(4), before the case goes to
the jury.

130 A notion under Ws. Stat. § 805.14(4) challenges the
sufficiency of the evidence presented and allows a claimto be
dismssed, as a mtter of law, if the circuit court "is
satisfied that, considering all credible evidence and reasonable
inferences therefrom in the light nost favorable to the party

agai nst whom the notion is made, there is no credible evidence

to sustain a finding in favor of such party." Ws. Stat.
8 805.14(1), (4) (enphasis added). Although there was no notion
submtted in this case, we treat the circuit court's dism ssal
of the informed consent claim against Dr. Brusky as if a notion
had been nade under Ws. Stat. § 805.14(4).

131 To determ ne whether the circuit court erred when it
decided, as a matter of law, that the Bubbs did not present a
claim against Dr. Brusky under Ws. Stat. § 448.30, we review
the court's decision to resolve whether there was any credible

16
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evidence in the record for the jury to determ ne that Dr. Brusky
was negligent in failing to adequately inform the Bubbs
regarding "alternate, viable nedical nodes of treatnment"® for
Richard's TIA® Ws. Stat. § 805.14(1), (4); Martin, 192
Ws. 2d at 167; see also Christianson v. Downs, 90 Ws. 2d 332,

334-35, 279 N.W2d 918 (1979)

A notion for dismssal for insufficiency of the
evidence should not be granted unless there is no
credi bl e evidence to support a finding in favor of the
plaintiff when all credible evidence and reasonable
i nferences therefrom are considered in the |ight nost
favorable to the plaintiff. This test serves the
purpose of preserving a litigant's right to a jury
determ nation of factual disputes.

32 This case also involves the interpretation of Ws.
Stat. 8§ 448.30. Statutory interpretation presents a question of

law that this court reviews de novo. Rechstei ner v. Hazel den,

2008 W 97, 926, 313 Ws. 2d 542, 753 N W2d 496.

8 Wsconsin Stat. § 448. 30.

® Dr. Brusky argues that we should review the circuit
court's decision under the erroneous exercise of discretion
standard because the circuit court is allowed discretion in
choosing how to instruct the jury. | ndeed, the circuit court
has broad discretion in fashioning the form of the jury
instructions and special verdict questions submtted to the
jury. See State v. Lenarchick, 74 Ws. 2d 425, 455, 247
N.W2d 80 (1976). However, as the court of appeals stated,
"This is not a situation where the court rejected certain
wording or conpanion instructions relevant to a particular
claim rather, the court rejected a distinct cause of action."
Bubb v. Brusky, 2008 W App 104, 917, 313 Ws. 2d 187, 756
N. W 2d 584. Because the circuit court conpletely disposed of
the Bubbs' distinct claim for inforned consent under Ws. Stat.
8§ 448.30, we do not review its decision as an exercise of
di scretion. See id.

17



No. 2007AP619

[11. DI SCUSSSI ON

133 The Bubbs contend that the circuit court commtted
reversible error by inproperly dismssing their informed consent
claim They assert that an infornmed consent claim under Ws.
St at . 8 448.30 is ‘"separate and distinct" from nedical
negl i gence clains alleging breaches of the standard of care.

134 After establishing that their informed consent claim
is separate and distinct from any other claim the Bubbs focus
attention on this court's decision in Murtin, suggesting that
their case is indistinguishable from Martin. The Bubbs point to
the followng simlarities:

(A In both cases, the treating physician was an energency

medi ci ne physician wthout admtting privileges.

(B) In both cases, there was a firmdiagnosis. [In Mrtin,
the patient was diagnosed with a concussion; in this
case, the patient was diagnosed with a TIA

(O In both cases, there was a failure to inform the
patient of alternative diagnostic tests that could
have been perforned. In Martin, there was a failure
to inform the patient about the availability of a CT
scan; in this case, there was a failure to inform the
Bubbs about the alternative <course of admtting
Richard to the hospital and performng a Doppler
ul t rasound.

(D) In both cases, the plaintiffs' standard of care clains

wer e unsuccessful .
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(E) In both cases, the plaintiffs' informed consent clains
were dism ssed by the circuit court judge. In Martin,
the claimwas dism ssed pursuant to a notion after the
jury's verdict; in this case, the claim was dism ssed
w thout a notion before going to the jury.

135 The Bubbs argue that because this court affirnmed the
court of appeals' reversal of the circuit court's decision in
Martin dism ssing the informed consent claim it should conclude
here that the Bubbs presented a prima facie case under Ws.
Stat. 8§ 448.30 that should have been resolved by a jury.

136 Al though the Bubbs admt that the decisions of whether
to admt Richard and to perform additional diagnostic testing,
such as the carotid Doppler ul t rasound, were  "nedi cal
decision[s] left to the judgnent of the physicians,"” they assert
that, under Martin, Richard "had an absolute right to know about
the[] alternatives and choose for hinself." For support, the

Bubbs quote the follow ng statenent from Marti n:

It my well be a "nmedical decision” under these
circunstances to decide not to do a CT scan, or to
decide not to hospitalize the patient in a hospital

that can treat an intracranial bleed if it should
occur . The statute on its face says, however, that

the patient has the right to know, wth sone
exceptions, that there are alternatives available.

The doctor mght decide against the alternative
treatnents or care, he mght try to persuade the
patient against wutilizing them but he nust inform
them when a reasonable person would want to know.

Here, M. Martin could have decided to have a CT scan
done or could have decided to take M. Martin to
anot her hospital with a neurosurgeon.

Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 181.
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137 The Bubbs' argunent is that, "[wlhile Dr. Brusky made
the nedical decision not to admt [Richard] and perform a
carotid Doppler wultrasound, the analysis does not end" there
because Richard, like the Mrtins, had a right to know all
viable alternatives to the treatnent he received.

138 The Bubbs also take issue with the procedure used by
the circuit court to dismss their informed consent claim The
Bubbs argue that the circuit court dism ssed their claimwthout
a notion pending before it. Consequently, they assert that the
circuit court's "decision was inproper as a matter of |law "

139 The Bubbs state that the only authority that allows a
circuit court to dismss a properly pleaded claimis found in
Ws. Stat. 8§ 805.14(3), governing a notion to dismss at the
close of the plaintiff's case, and Ws. Stat. § 805.14(4),
governing a notion for a directed verdict at the close of all
evi dence. According to the Bubbs, neither subsection is

appropriate unless "there is no credible evidence to sustain a

finding in favor of the plaintiff's claim"™ The Bubbs contend
that it was inappropriate for the circuit court to invoke either
subsection of Ws. Stat. 8 805.14 in elimnating their infornmed

consent cl aim because "it is undisputed that" Dr. Brusky did not

nove the court to make such a determnation and "the Bubbs
presented nore than enough evidence" to send their inforned
consent claimto the jury.

140 For exanple, the Bubbs reason that evidence presented
by the defense and Dr. Brusky's own testinony established that
adm ssion to the hospital for further diagnostic testing using
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the carotid Doppler ultrasound was a well-accepted, alternative

course of action that could have been enployed in treating

Ri chard's TI A

41 The Bubbs also contend that the circuit court nust
have concluded there was sufficient evidence establishing the
availability of alternative courses of action in treating
Richard's condition. Oherwise, they claim the court would not
have included the optional paragraph in the standard nedi cal
negligence jury instruction—a paragraph that is to be used, as
it expressly states, "only if there is evidence of two or nore
alternative nethods of treatnent or diagnosis recognized as
reasonable.” Ws JI—Civil 1023 (2009).%°

142 Finally, the Bubbs conclude their argunent by stating
that, if a carotid Doppler ultrasound had been perfornmed on
Richard either that night or the next day at the hospital, then
Richard's 90-percent stenosed carotid artery would have been
di agnosed prior to his stroke. The Bubbs reason that, because
Richard was sent home wthout having a carotid Doppler
ul trasound perfornmed and he devel oped a stroke before receiving
followup treatnment, the failure to inform R chard of the
alternative courses of action available was a cause of the
debilitating injuries he suffered foll ow ng the stroke.

43 In response, Dr. Brusky presents four argunents to

rebut the Bubbs' contention that their inforned consent claim

0 Al subsequent references to Ws JI—CGivil 1023 (2009)
are to the 2009 version unl ess otherw se indicated.
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was inproperly dismssed. First, Dr. Brusky asserts that he
treated R chard on an energency basis only and he satisfied al
his duties as an energency nedicine physician. He contends he
never proposed to treat Richard for his underlying neurol ogica
conditi on—the stenosed carotid artery—and therefore, "he had
no duty to inform[R chard] about tests that a neurol ogi st m ght
recommend in followup.”" Dr. Brusky argues that requiring nore
from an energency nedi ci ne physician would "inpose upon [such an
energency physician] a duty to be, in effect, a specialist in
numer ous nedi cal specialties.”

44 Second, Dr. Brusky maintains that this case was a
standard of care case, not an infornmed consent case. He cl ains
"[t]he mere fact that there is a dispute on how patients should
be managed does not necessarily trigger an infornmed consent
claim because the doctor may reasonably enploy any one of the
avai l able options wthout breaching his standard of care.
Utimately, Dr. Brusky argues that "choosing between two
recogni zed nethods [ of t r eat ment or di agnosi s] doesn' t
necessarily mean that the physician nust instruct the patient on
t he ot her recogni zed net hod. "

45 Third, Dr. Brusky disputes the Bubbs' argunment that
this case is analogous to Martin. He agrees with the circuit
court and the court of appeals that the tw cases are
di stingui shable. Specifically, Dr. Brusky notes that both | ower
courts found it significant that he nade a correct diagnosis of
Richard's condition, whereas the doctor in Martin did not nake
the correct diagnosis. Therefore, Dr. Brusky argues that the
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di agnostic tests in question in Mrtin and this case differ
significantly in that the test in Martin would have been used to
make the correct diagnosis. Here, Dr. Brusky clains he nmade the
correct diagnosis from the beginning, and the carotid Doppler
ultrasound "was part of the followup for the underlying
condition."

146 Finally, Dr. Brusky takes the position that the
circuit court properly wthheld the Bubbs' informed consent
claim from the jury because it failed to establish causation.
H's reasoning is twofold: (1) it is "speculative at best" as to
whet her all the necessary preconditions for getting R chard to
surgery would have been conpleted before his stroke; and (2) it
is questionable as to whether a carotid Doppler ultrasound
"could have been conpleted on" the night R chard presented to
the energency room at St. Agnes. Essentially, Dr. Brusky argues
that, even if R chard wuld have been inforned of the
alternative course of treatnment of admssion and further
testing, it is debatable whether anything could have been done
to save Richard from having a stroke.

A W sconsin's Cormon Law | nfornmed Consent Doctrine

147 Wsconsin courts developed a comon |aw doctrine of
informed consent before 1982, the year in which Ws. Stat.
§ 448.30 was adopted.!! See, e.g., Scaria v. St. Paul Fire &

Marine Ins. Co., 68 Ws. 2d 1, 11, 227 N.W2d 647 (1975); Trogun

v. Fruchtman, 58 Ws. 2d 569, 596, 207 N W2d 297 (1973). The

11 See § 2, ch. 375, Laws of 1981 (effective May 7, 1982).
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doctrine originally developed as a tort claim for intentional
battery in recognition of "the fundanmental notion of the right

to bodily integrity.” Johnson v. Kokenpor, 199 Ws. 2d 615,

628, 545 N W2d 495 (1996); see also Hannemann v. Boyson, 2005

W 94, 934, 282 Ws. 2d 664, 698 N.W2d 714 (citing Trogun, 58
Ws. 2d at 596); Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 170.1%?

48 In the classic situation giving rise to a comon |aw
informed consent claim a patient would "consent[] to a certain
type of operation but, in the course of that operation, [would
be] subjected to other, unauthorized operative procedures.”

Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 628-29 (citing as exanples Paul sen v.

Qundersen, 218 Ws. 578, 584, 260 N.W 448 (1935) and Throne v.
Wandel |, 176 Ws. 97, 186 N.W 146 (1922)). Comon | aw i nfornmed
consent clains also included cases "where the patient had not
recei ved [adequate] information about the risks associated with
the nmedi cal procedure.”™ Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 170.

49 This latter category of infornmed consent cases, where
the doctor sinply failed to disclose risks associated with a
certain treatnment, "fit unconfortably, or not at all, within the
intentional, antisocial nature of battery." Id. at 171, see

al so Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 598-600. Consequently, in 1973, the

2 1n other words, "[t]he [commopn |aw] obligation to secure
informed consent before performng a procedure was prem sed on
the notion that 'a person of sound mnd has a right to
determ ne, even as against his physician, what is to be done to
his body."" Hannemann v. Boyson, 2005 W 94, 934, 282
Ws. 2d 664, 698 N W2d 714 (quoting Trogun v. Fruchtmn, 58
Ws. 2d 569, 596, 207 N.W2d 297 (1973)).
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W sconsin Suprenme Court changed course and held that "it 1is
preferable to affirmatively recognize a legal duty, bottoned

upon a negligence theory of liability, in cases wherein it is

all eged the patient-plaintiff was not informed adequately of the
ram fications of a course of treatment."*® Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at

600 (enphasi s added).

3 91n Trogun, this court set forth the follow ng reasons as
to why a treating physician's failure to disclose information
regarding a course of nedical treatnent should not be considered
akin to battery: (1) "physicians are invariably acting in good
faith and for the benefit of the patient,” unlike the typica
battery situation where the defendant unlawfully nakes physical
contact with another; (2) failure to provide information is not
likely an intentional act on the part of the physician; (3) "the
act conplained of in infornmed consent cases is not within the

traditional idea of 'contact' or 'touching' " contenplated by
battery; (4) "a valid question exists with respect to whether a
physician's mal practice insurance covers liability for an

arguably ‘'crimnal' act—>battery"; and (5) failing to provide
adequate disclosure "do[es] not fit the traditional nold of
situations[, such as battery,] wherein punitive danages can be
awarded." Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 598-600.

Addi tionally, Dean WIliam L. Prosser gi ves a
cont enpor aneous account of the developnent in the law of
i nformed consent as a whol e:

A consi derabl e nunber of |ate cases have involved the
doctrine of "informed consent,"” which concerns the
duty of the physician or surgeon to informthe patient
of the risk which my be involved in treatnment or
surgery. The earliest cases treated this as a matter
of vitiating the consent, so that there was liability
for battery. Beginning with a decision in Kansas in
1960, it began to be recognized that this was really a
matter of the standard of professional conduct, since
there will be sone patients to whom disclosure may be
undesirable or even dangerous for success of the
treatment or the patient's own welfare; and that what
should be done is a matter for professional judgnent
in the light of +the applicable nedical standards.
Accordingly, the prevailing view now is that the
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50 Trogun stated that, in general, "[t]he negligence
theory of liability has taken many shapes, although comon to
all is the existence of the duty to disclose or warn on the part

of a physician and exposure to negligence liability when such

duty is not properly discharged.” 1d. at 598 (enphasis added).

In particular, the court endorsed the standard set forth by the

U S. Court of Appeals in Canterbury v. Spence, 464 F.2d 772, 781

(D.C. Gr. 1972), which stated that for a physician to fully
satisfy the standard of due care, she nust inform the patient
"of any risks to his well-being which contenplated therapy may

involve." See Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 600.

51 Trogun al so recognized that the standard for adequate
di scl osure was "not ' dependent upon the existence and

nonper f or mance of a rel evant pr of essi onal tradition,’

action, regardless of its form is in reality one for
negligence in failing to conform to the proper
standard, to be determned on the basis of expert
testinmony as to what disclosure should be made.

WIlliam L. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts § 32 at 165
(4th ed. 1971) (internal footnotes omtted).

14 See also Hannemann, 282 Ws. 2d 664, T35 ("In Trogun,
this court determned that it was no |onger appropriate to treat
the failure to obtain informed consent as an assault and battery
and instead 'recognized a legal duty, bottomed upon a negligence
theory of liability . oo (quoting Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at
600)); Johnson v. Kokenpor, 199 Ws. 2d 615, 629, 545 N. W 2d 495
(1996) ("The court further developed the doctrine of inforned
consent in Trogun[], stating for the first time that a
plaintiff-patient could bring an informed consent action based
on negligence rather than as an intentional tort."); Martin v.
Richards, 192 Ws. 2d 156, 171, 531 N W2d 70 (1995) ("[T]he
basis for liability in informed consent cases changed to a
negli gence theory of liability.").
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[ Canterbury, 464 F.2d at 783,] and [was] to be judged by that

conduct which is reasonable under the circunstances," Trogun, 58

Ws. 2d at 600 (citing Canterbury, 464 F.2d at 785) (internal

footnotes omtted). Wiat is reasonable under the circunstances,

Trogun observed, "nust be neasured by the patient's 'objective

need for information material to his decision.” ld. at 601

(citing Canterbury, 464 F.2d at 787) (enphasis added); see also

Cobbs v. Gant, 502 P.2d 1, 11 (Cal. 1972) ("[T]he patient's

right of self-decision is the nmeasure of the physician's duty to
reveal .").

52 Mbreover, according to Trogun, if the failure to
inform could be established by a plaintiff wusing the above
standard, then liability would attach if the plaintiff could
denonstrate "a causal connection between the physician's failure
to disclose and the injury to the patient." Trogun, 58
Ws. 2d at 602 (citing Cobbs, 502 P.2d at 11). The Trogun court
expl ained that the test for whether there is a causal connection

"is not one of hindsight but an objective standard: what would

the average prudent person in the patient's position have

decided if informed of the perils.” Id. at 603 (enphasis
added) .

153 Two years after Trogun, in 1975, this court took up
Scari a, another informed consent case, and reaffirmed the

reasonabl e patient standard adopted in Trogun. See Scaria, 68

Ws. 2d at 11, 13. The Scaria court stated that a physician has

a duty "to nmke such disclosures as appear reasonably necessary

under circunstances then existing to enable a reasonabl e person
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under the sane or simlar circunstances confronting the patient

at the tinme of disclosure to intelligently exercise his right to

consent or to refuse the treatnent or procedure proposed.”

Id. at 13 (enphasis added). The court made clear that a
physician's duty of disclosure is neasured objectively under the
reasonabl eness standard by noting that the "community standard”
(based on what the average doctor in the comunity would
disclose to the patient) is "certainly relevant and material™
but not determnative in evaluating whether the physician
satisfied her duty of disclosure. Id. at 12.

154 The court also made clear that, because the inforned
consent standard adopted in Trogun was an objective standard
based on negligence principles such as reasonableness, the
physician's duty to informis not boundless. See id. at 11, 12-
13. The court noted that the physician's duty to inform does
not nmean he is "required to know every potential risk but only
those known to a reasonably well-qualified practitioner or
speci alist comensurate with his classification in the nedical
prof essi on. " Id. at 11. Moreover, the court |listed the
followng additional I|imtations to a physician's duty of

di scl osure:

A doctor should not be required to give a detailed
techni cal nedical explanation that in all probability

the patient would not understand. He should not be
required to discuss risks that are apparent or known
to the patient. Nor should he be required to disclose

extrenely renote possibilities that at least in sone
i nstances mght only serve to falsely or detrinentally
alarm the particular patient. Li kewi se, a doctor's
duty to inform is further Ilimted in cases of
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energency or where the patient is a child, nentally
i nconpetent or a person is enotionally distraught or
suscepti bl e to unreasonabl e fears.

ld. at 12-13 (internal footnote omtted).
155 Finally, Scaria discussed the inportance of wutilizing
the reasonabl eness standard for determ ning cause in infornmed

consent cl ai ns. ld. at 13-15. Wt hout an objective standard,

the court contended, the cause determ nation would come down to
an assessnment of the patient's credibility in testifying as to
what she would have done had she been fully inforned. |d. at

15. This, the court thought, was unsatisfactory:

[When causality is explored at a post[-]injury trial
with a professedly uninforned patient, the question
whet her he actually would have turned the treatnent
down if he had known the risks is purely hypothetical
"Viewed from the point at which he had to decide,
would the patient have decided differently had he
known sonething he did not know?" And the answer
whi ch the patient supplies hardly represents nore than
a guess, perhaps tinged by the circunstance that the
uncomuni cat ed hazard has in fact materialized.

In our view, this nethod of dealing with the
i ssue on causation cones in second-best. It places
the physician in jeopardy of the patient's hindsight
and bitterness. It places the fact[-]finder in the
position of deciding whether a specul ative answer to a
hypot hetical question is to be credited. It calls for
a subjective determnation solely on testinony of a
patient-w tness shadowed by the occurrence of the
undi scl osed ri sk.

Better it is, we believe, to resolve the
causality issue on an objective basis: in ternms of
what a prudent person in the patient's position would
have decided if suitably informed of all perils
beari ng significance. | f adequate disclosure could
reasonably be expected to have caused that person to
decline the treatnment because of the revelation of the
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kind of risk or danger that resulted in harm
causation is shown, but otherw se not.

Id. at 14 (quoting Canterbury, 464 F.2d at 790-91) (internal

guotations omtted).

56 Utimately, the objective standards set forth in
Trogun and reaffirmed in Scaria governed comon |aw inforned
consent clainms in Wsconsin and were the inpetus for the
| egislature's decision to create Ws. Stat. § 448.30, the
i nformed consent statute.

B. Wsconsin Stat. 8§ 448.30
157 Wsconsin Stat. 8 448.30 reads, in its entirety, as

foll ows:

448. 30 Information on alternate nodes of
treat ment. Any physician who treats a patient shall
inform the patient about the availability of al
alternate, viable nedical nodes of treatnent and about
the benefits and risks of these treatnents. The
physician's duty to inform the patient wunder this
section does not require disclosure of:

(1) Information beyond what a reasonably well-
qual ified physi ci an in a simlar nmedi cal
classification would know.

(2) Detailed technical information that in al
probability a patient woul d not understand.

(3) Risks apparent or known to the patient.

(4) Extrenely renote possibilities that m ght
falsely or detrimentally alarmthe patient.

(5 Information in energencies where failure to
provi de treatnent would be nore harnful to the patient
t han treatnent.

(6) Information in cases where the patient is
i ncapabl e of consenti ng.
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The | anguage of the statute "codifies the comon |law set forth

in Scaria." Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 629-30 (enphasis added);
Hannemann, 282 Ws. 2d 664, 9148 ("[Section] 448.30 was enacted
in order to codify the common-|law standards for infornmed consent
set forth in Scaria."); Mrtin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174 ("[T]he
Wsconsin legislature <codified the standard articulated in
Scaria in sec. 448.30, Stats."). In fact, the Legislative
Ref erence Bureau Note to 1981 A.B. 941, the bill that becane
Ws. Stat. 8§ 448.30, includes the followng statenent: "The bill
places in the statutes the standard of care that physicians are

required to neet under Scaria." See Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174.

The informed consent statute was enacted in 1982 and remains in
its original form today. See § 2, ch. 375, Laws of 1981.
Consequently, the standards set forth in Trogun and Scaria are
inplicated in the interpretation of Ws. Stat. 8§ 448. 30.

158 For exanple, in Martin, the suprene court relied
heavily upon Trogun and Scaria for its interpretation of Ws.
Stat. § 448.30. Martin involved a 14-year old girl who rode her
bicycle into the back of a dunp truck, causing her injuries that
required enmergency care at Fort Atkinson Menorial Hospital
( FAVH) . Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 162. The energency physician
who treated the girl made a differential di agnosis  of

concussi on, contusion, and possible intracranial bleeding based
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on her synptons.®™ 1d. at 164. Then, "[i]n an attenpt to
determ ne which diagnosis was correct, he perfornmed several
neurol ogical tests as well as skull x-rays. Based upon the
results of these tests, [the energency physician] ultimtely
di agnosed [the girl] as having a concussion.” Id.

159 The energency physician explained his diagnosis to the
girl's father and advised him that there were two appropriate
alternatives available for treating the girl's condition: (1)
"send [her] home under the care of a responsible adult, or" (2)
"admt [her] to the hospital for observation."” Id. The
energency physician did not informthe girl's father that a CT
scan could be perforned at the hospital to further diagnose the
girl's head injuries. Id. In addition, the physician did not
inform the girl's father that if a neurological conplication
woul d be detected or would arise while the girl was at FAWH
"she would have to be transferred to a different hospital
because FAMH did not have a neurosurgeon.” Id. The girl's
father decided to have her admtted to the hospital that
evening. ld.

160 Very early the next norning, the girl's condition

deteriorated to the point that she had to be transferred by

helicopter to the University of Wsconsin (UWN Hospital 1in

15 The Martin court stated that "differential diagnosis"
means "'[t]he determnation of which of two or nore diseases
with simlar synptonms is the one from which the patient is
suffering, by a systematic conparison and contrasting of the
clinical findings."" Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 164 n.2 (quoting
Stedman's Medical Dictionary 428 (25th ed. 1990)).
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Madi son. Id. at 165. CT scans were performed at the UW
Hospital and intracranial bleeding was discovered. Id. The
girl required two energency surgeries to relieve the bleeding
Id. The surgeries were only partially successful, |eaving the
girl a partial spastic quadriplegic. I1d.

161 As part of a larger malpractice action, the girl and
her famly filed an inforned consent claim against the energency
physician for his failure to disclose "the existence of
alternate fornms of care and treatnment.” |d. at 166. The jury
found the physician liable on this claim alone and awarded the
girl and her famly "alnmost 5 million dollars in damages."'® 1d.
However, following the verdict, the circuit court granted the
energency physician's notion to dismss the informed consent
claim because "[t]he court believed that wunder sec. 448. 30,
Stats., the doctors had no duty to inform [the girl's father]
about diagnostic or treatnent alternatives with respect to what
it characterized as the "extrenely renote' possibility that [the
girl] would develop an intracranial bleed." 1d. The court of
appeal s reversed, disagreeing with the circuit court that a one
to three percent chance of the girl developing an intracranial
bl eed was "extrenely renote" given the serious consequences that

can result from such a condition. Id. at 166-67. The i ssue was

then presented to this court for review

® The jury found no liability for the emergency physician
or the consulting physician in relation to the standard of care
rendered. 1d. at 166.
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162 Initially, this court observed that the |anguage of

Ws. Stat. § 448.30 "appears clear in its directive. The
difficulty in applying the statute, however, is in determning
how far the duty to disclose extends, i.e., what is considered
an alternate, viable node of treatnent.” Id. at 169. In naking

this determnation, the court referenced Scaria and re-
enphasi zed "that the standard for informed consent cannot be
defined by the nedical profession” because the decision of what
nmode of treatnent to proceed with "is not a nedical decision.”

Id. at 174; see also Hannemann, 282 Ws. 2d 664, 135-36, 38-39,

40, 46; Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 633-34, 649; Scaria, 68
Ws. 2d at 12. | nstead, the court stated, "[t]he decision nust
be nade by the patient, and a patient cannot make an i nforned,
intelligent decision to consent to a physician's suggested
treatment unl ess the physician discloses what is material to the
patient's decision, i.e., all of the viable alternatives and
risks of the treatnent proposed.™ Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174;
see also Hannemann, 282 Ws. 2d 664, 1935-36, 46; Johnson, 199

Ws. 2d at 630-31, 640, 645; Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 13; Trogun
58 Ws. 2d at 600-02. The extent of this disclosure, the court
concluded, "is driven . . . by what a reasonable person under

the circunstances then existing would want to know, i.e., what

is reasonably necessary for a reasonable person to make an

intelligent decision with respect to the choices of treatnent or

di agnosis. "' Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174 (enphasis added); see

7 The court, citing Canterbury v. Spence, 464 F.2d 772, 788
(D.C. Gr. 1972), stated "that whenever the determ nation of
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al so Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 631, 637-40; Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at

11, 13; Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 600-02. The court presuned that
this standard is enbodied in Ws. Stat. 8 448.30 by "the use of
the word '"viable."" Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174-75.

163 In addition, the Mirtin court mnade clear that the

physician's duty of disclosure "under the statute is not limted

to affirmative violations of bodily integrity." Id. at 175

(enmphasi s added). The court explained as foll ows:

There can be no dispute that the |anguage in Scari a,
68 Ws. 2d at 13, requires that a physician disclose
i nformati on necessary for a reasonable person to nake
an intelligent decision with respect to the choices of
treatment or diagnosis. Because this standard was
adopted by the legislature, as indicated by the
[ Legislative Reference Bureau] notes, the phrase
"modes of treatnent” in sec. 448.30, Stats., should
not be construed so as to unduly limt the physician's
duty to provide information which 1is reasonably
necessary under the circunstances. Such a reading
would be contrary to Scaria. Certainly, procedures
which are purely diagnostic in nature are not excl uded
from sec 448.30's reach. In Scaria, itself, the
plaintiff's injuries resulted from. . . a diagnostic
procedure. Id. at 4. The distinction between
di agnostic and nedical treatnents is not in and of
itself significant to an analysis of inforned consent.

Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 175 (enphasis added).

164 Applying Ws. Stat. § 448.30 in |Iline wth the
principles set forth in Trogun and Scaria, the Martin court
reinstated the jury's finding of liability against the energency

physi cian on informed consent. Id. at 182. The court reasoned

what a reasonabl e person would want to know is open to debate by
reasonabl e people, the issue is one for the jury.”" Martin, 192
Ws. 2d at 172-73.
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that "there was credi ble evidence for the jury to determ ne that
in order to nmake an intelligent decision regarding the choices
of treatnment or diagnosis, a reasonable person, under the
circunstances then existing, would have wanted to know' the
followng information: (1) that a CT scanner was avail able and
woul d have detected any neurological conplications resulting
fromthe girl's injuries; and (2) that if the girl would have
devel oped neurol ogi cal conplications, she would have needed to
be transferred to a hospital with a neurosurgeon for further
treatment.'® Id.

65 In making its decision, the Martin court dismssed two
argunents made by the energency physician. First, the court
rejected the argunent that Ws. Stat. 8 448.30 does not inpose a
duty on physicians "to inform patients of alternate treatnents
for a condition not diagnosed or not being treated by the
physi ci an. " Id. at 180. The court rejected this argunent

because it "ignore[d] the facts" of the case:

[ The energency physician] believed [the girl] had a
concussi on. He did not believe she was bleeding at
the tinme he diagnosed concussion. But given the
circunstances of this case, that does not end the

inquiry. [ The energency physician] knew that del ayed

i ntracrani al bleeding was a condition of hi s
di agnosi s. He could not rule it out. He knew there
was a distinct possibility that intracranial bleeding
m ght occur. In sum he knew that [the girl's]

condition was nore serious than a sinple concussion.

18 The supreme court also affirmed the court of appeals'
determ nation that a one to three percent chance of devel oping
an intracrani al bleed was not renote given the serious
consequences that may result. [|d. at 167.
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He knew that associated with this concussion was the

possibility of a delayed intracranial bleed.

It was

this condition (the excessive vomting, the amesia,
the unconsciousness of an wundetermned tinme, the
injury to the head) not the diagnosis, that drives the

duty to informin this case. The statute speaks to
informati on about alternate nodes of treatnent; it is
not limted in title or in text to "Information on

alternate nodes of treatnent for diagnosis."”

Id. at 180-81 (second and third enphasis added).

166 The <court also rejected as clearly m staken

ener gency physi ci an's ar gunent t hat these were nedi

t he

cal

decisions, thus relieving him of the duty to disclose adequate

i nformati on:

When a reasonable person would want to know about an
alternative treatnment or nmethod of diagnosis such as a
CT scan or hospitalization in a facility with a
neur osurgeon, the decision is not the doctor's alone

to make.

It may well be a "nedical decision” under

circunstances to decide not to do a CT scan,

t hese
or to

decide not to hospitalize the patient in a hospital

that can treat an intracranial bleed if it

shoul d

occur . The statute on its face says, however, that

the patient has the right to know, wth

sone

exceptions, that there are alternatives available.
The doctor m ght deci de agai nst the alternate

treatnents or care, he mght try to persuade the

patient against utilizing them but he nust

i nform

them when a reasonable person would want to know.

Here, [the girl's father] could have decided to

have a

CT scan done or could have decided to take [the girl]
to another hospital with a neurosurgeon. |In fact, the

jury found that [the father] would have agreed

to the

alternate forns of care and treatnent had he been

informed of their availability.
Id. at 181 (enphasis added).
167 Martin was decided in 1995. A year later,

further clarified its interpretation of Ws. Stat.
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Johnson. In Johnson, the <court rejected the defendant's
proposed "'bright-line' rule requiring physicians to disclose
only significant conplications intrinsic to the contenplated
procedure.” Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 637-39. Instead, the court
reiterated, with reference to Trogun and Scaria, that "Ws[.]
Stat. 8§ 448.30 explicitly requires disclosure of nore than just
treatnent conplications associated with a particular procedure.

Physi cians nmust, the statute declares, disclose the availability

of all alternate, viable nedical nodes of treatnment in addition

to the benefits and risks of these treatnents.” ld. at 640

(internal quotations omtted) (enphasis added).'®

168 The pr ecedi ng di scussi on illustrates t hat t he
standards set forth in Trogun and Scaria continue to guide our
interpretation of Ws. Stat. 8§ 448.30, and we see no reason to
depart from these standards in interpreting the statute in the
present case.

169 Wth these standards in mnd, we conclude that there
is credible evidence in the record from which a reasonable jury
could find that Dr. Brusky failed, in violation of Ws. Stat.

8§ 448.30, to adequately inform the Bubbs "of all alternate,

19 The Johnson court also reaffirned that the cause el ement
under Ws. Stat. 8§ 448.30 was to be judged objectively by the
jury asking "whether a reasonable person in the patient's
position would have arrived at a different decision about the
treatnent . . . had he or she been fully infornmed." Johnson,
199 Ws. 2d at 651; see also Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 14-15;
Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 603-04.
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vi abl e nedical nodes of treatnent and about the benefits and
risks of th[o]se treatnents.” See Ws. Stat. § 448. 30.

70 First, there is credible evidence in the record from
which a reasonable jury could conclude that there were
reasonable alternatives available for treating R chard' s TIA
Most pertinently, Dr. Brusky's own testinony establishes that

12° and ordering a carotid

admtting Richard to the hospita
Doppl er ultrasound was "one of the reasonable ways of" treating
a TIA Second, expert testinmony elicited during the trial

denonstrates that there is considerable debate in the nedica

community over whether to admt patients imrediately after a TIA
epi sode or to discharge themwth instructions and a referral to
a neurol ogi st. The fact this debate exists presents credible

evidence for the jury to believe that there were reasonable

20 On appeal, Dr. Brusky makes an argument that admission to
the hospital was not an alternate node of treatnent avail able
for Richard because Dr. Brusky did not have admtting privileges
at St. Agnes Hospital. The fact that Dr. Brusky did not have
admtting privileges is irrelevant for two reasons. First, the
physician's duty under Ws. Stat. 8 448.30 is to inform the
patient of the availability of all viable alternatives and all ow
the patient to mke a decision, but the physician is not
necessarily required to do what the patient desires. See
Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 181 ("The doctor m ght decide against the
alternate treatnents or care, he mght try to persuade the
patient against utilizing them but he nust inform them when a
reasonable person would want to know "). Second, energency
physicians often do not have admtting privileges at the
hospitals where they work; however, that does not mnean that
patients treated by energency physicians cannot be admtted.
They can be, as evidenced by Martin, where the energency
physician did not have admtting privileges, but he recomrended
to the girl and her father that she be admtted, which was done
W th assistance froma physician with admtting privileges. 1d.
at 165.
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alternative treatnents available for Richard. Third, the
circuit court's decision to include the alternative paragraph to

the standard nedi cal negligence jury instruction, which is to be

used "only if there is evidence of two or nore alternative

met hods of treatnent or diagnhosis recognized as reasonable,”

denonstrates that credible evidence was presented to show that a
reasonabl e alternative node of treatnent existed. See Ws JI—
G vil 1023.

171 Because there is credible evidence for the jury to
conclude that admi ssion to the hospital and further diagnostic
testing was a reasonable alternative node of treatnent avail able
for Richard's condition, the question is whether there is
credi ble evidence in the record to support the notion that this

alternative was viable. See Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174-75. I n

ot her words, could the Bubbs have "ma[d]e an inforned,
intelligent decision to consent” to Dr. Brusky's suggested nbde
of treatnment—di scharge from the hospital wth instructions for
followup care—w thout being informed of +the alternative—
admssion to the hospital wth further diagnostic testing?

Id. at 174; see also Hannemann, 282 Ws. 2d 664, 9Y35-36, 46,

Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 630-31, 640, 645; Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at
13; Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 600-02. This answer is dictated "by
what a reasonabl e person under the circunstances then existing
would want to know. " Martin, 192 Ws. 2d at 174; see also
Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 631, 637-40; Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 11,
13; Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 600-02.
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172 Credible evidence in the record, including statistics
related to the increased risk of stroke following a TIA the
severe consequences that can result from a stroke, and the fact
that a stenosed carotid artery is a possible cause of a TIA
denonstrates that a reasonable jury could conclude that a
reasonable person in R chard' s condition would have wanted to
know about the alternative of adm ssion with further diagnostic

testing.? See Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 631, 637-40; Martin, 192

2l Richard testified at trial as foll ows:

Q Did anybody, when you left, as you were |eaving
St. Agnes that night, tell you that you could
possi bly have the option of staying overnight in
t he hospital ?

| don't believe so. No.

Q Did anybody say anything to you about the fact
that there -- that another test could be done to
| ook at your carotid arteries?

No, no one nentioned that at all.

Q Did anybody tell you that if you had a bl ockage
in your carotid artery, that you could -- were at
high risk for stroke?

| don't believe so.

Q Did anybody tell you that this carotid artery
could tell you whether you were at risk for
stroke?

No.

Wuld that information have been interesting to
you or significant?

A O course it would have been
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Ws. 2d at 174; Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 11, 13; Trogun, 58
Ws. 2d at 600-02.

173 Finally, there is credible evidence in the record from
whi ch a reasonable jury could conclude that Dr. Brusky's failure
to adequately inform the Bubbs of the alternative node of
treatnent available was a cause of Richard's injuries that
resulted from his stroke. The sane evidence bearing on whether
a reasonable patient in R chard' s position would have wanted to
know about the reasonable alternative node of treatnment that was
avai l able, see supra, 972, is also credible evidence for the
jury to determne whether a reasonable patient in R chard's
condition would have refused Dr. Brusky's recommended node of
treatnment if the patient had been inforned of the alternative

see Johnson, 199 Ws. 2d at 651, Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 14-15,

Trogun, 58 Ws. 2d at 603-04.

174 Furthernore, the record contains testinony indicating
that if the carotid Doppler ultrasound was performed either that
night or the next day, R chard' s stenosed carotid artery would

have been detected, and he woul d have been i mredi ately nedi cated

This testinmny would not be helpful if it were inconsistent with
what a reasonable person under the circunstances would want to
know. However, we cannot say on the facts here that this
testi mony shoul d be disregarded.
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and prepared for emergency surgery.?? Therefore, we can say
there is credible evidence in the record from which a reasonabl e
jury could conclude that Dr. Brusky's failure to adequately
inform the Bubbs of the reasonable alternate node of treatnent
available was a cause of his injuries that resulted from his
stroke. See Ws JI—Cvil 1023.1. Utimitely, causation is a
question for the jury.?

175 In conclusion, we note that one of Dr. Brusky's
argunents in defending against the Bubbs' informed consent claim
is that he properly discharged his duties as an energency
physician, and to require nore would create undue hardship on
energency physicians because they would be forced to have
speci alized know edge in nmany areas of nedicine in which they
are not trained. This concern, which is legitimte, is greatly
alleviated by the express |anguage of the statute, placing
limts on the physician's duty of disclosure. See Ws. Stat

§ 448.30(1)-(6).2%

22 Dr. @ specifically testified that a Doppler ultrasound
woul d have been available either that night or the next day and
that the results of the Doppler ultrasound probably would have
detected Richard' s 90-percent stenosed carotid artery. If the
stenosed artery was diagnosed, then Dr. Gu testified that he
woul d have contacted a neurosurgeon so that preparations for
surgery coul d begin. He also stated that if a neurosurgeon was
not available at St. Agnes, then R chard would have been
transferred to a different hospital.

23 "[ W henever the determnation of what a reasonabl e person
would want to know is open to debate by reasonable people, the
issue is one for the jury." 1d. at 172-73.

24 The physician's duty to inform the patient under
this section does not require disclosure of:
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176 In particular, W s. St at . 8§ 448.30(1) limts a
physician's duty of disclosure to information that "a reasonably
well -qualified physician in a simlar nedical classification

woul d know. " See Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 11. Therefore, Dr.

Brusky's concern that he and other energency physicians wll be
required to provide patients with information outside their
field of know edge should be mninmal given the statutory
| anguage. See Ws. Stat. § 448.30(1); Scaria, 68 Ws. 2d at 11

For instance, Dr. Brusky 1is not being asked to provide
information outside his field of know edge; he acknow edged in
his testinony that adm ssion and further diagnostic testing was
a reasonable alternative course of action in treating patients
after a TIA The jury determned he was not negligent in his

standard of care for failing to enploy this alternative when

(1) Information beyond what a reasonably well-
qual ified physi ci an in a simlar nmedi cal
classification would know.

(2) Detailed technical information that in al
probability a patient woul d not understand.

(3) Risks apparent or known to the patient.

(4) Extrenely renote possibilities that m ght
falsely or detrimentally alarmthe patient.

(5 Information in energencies where failure to
provide treatnent would be nore harnful to the patient
t han treatnent.

(6) Information in cases where the patient is
i ncapabl e of consenti ng.

Ws. Stat. 8§ 448. 30.

44



No. 2007AP619

treating Richard, but that did not relieve Dr. Brusky of his
duty to inform the Bubbs "about the availability of all
alternate, viable nedical nodes of treatnent."” Ws. Stat.
§ 448. 30.

177 Another way the statute limts Dr. Brusky's duty in
this case is that he does not necessarily have a duty to inform
Ri chard of which particular diagnostic tests should be enpl oyed
or the details of those tests. This would likely be either
"[1]nformation beyond what a reasonably well-qualified physician
in a simlar nedical «classification would know, " Ws. Stat.
8§ 448.30(1), or "[d]etailed technical information that in all
probability a patient would not wunderstand,” Ws. St at.
8§ 448.30(2). The Bubbs' conplaint bears this out in that it
alleges that Dr. Brusky "failed to inform Plaintiff Richard Bubb
of additional diagnostic tests or alternate treatnment plans.”

| V. CONCLUSI ON

178 W conclude that Ws. Stat. 8§ 448.30 requires any
physician who treats a patient to inform the patient about the
availability of al | al ternate, vi abl e nedi cal nodes  of
treatnment, including diagnosis, as well as the benefits and
risks of such treatnents. The statute contains several
reasonable exceptions to this requirenent that I|imt the
treating physician's duty to inform under the statute. In this
medi cal mal practice action, the plaintiffs filed a separate and
distinct claim grounded in the requirenents of § 448. 30. They
presented sufficient evidence at trial to support such a claim
None of the statutory exceptions apply. Hence, the circuit
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court's dismssal of the claim at the conclusion of trial
evi dence was error

By the Court.—Fhe decision of the court of appeals is
reversed and the cause is remanded to the circuit court for
further proceedi ngs consistent wth this opinion.

179 ANNETTE KI NGSLAND ZI EGLER, J., did not participate.
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